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Above OSI Historical 6” Mapping. Map of Dromcollogher. showing its distinctive diamond shaped square. 1840

If Horace Plunkett and his fellow co-operators or Canon John Hayes, founder of Muintir Na Tire were to visit Dromcollogher to-day, they would be pleased with what they would see.

Dromcollogher, a small town and community on the western edge of the Golden Vale - though small in size with a population of 500, it possesses many of the amenities of larger centers of population and is trying hard to maintain this standard. There is a Garda station, and a thriving mart replaces the fair days of Yester-year. Although it can trace its roots back many centuries, it is for the history of the most recent past that it has become better known.

The name Dromcollogher is derived from the Irish Drom Coil Choille, which means “the ridge of the hazel wood”.

In the fourth century despite the lack of towns and writing, the society present was a sophisticated one with a wealth of oral tradition of law and legend. An ancestor of modern Irish was spoken throughout the land and politically there seems to have been a ferment of change. Society was aristocratic and hierarchical and kindred was an important guarantee of one’s position.

From the Norman Invasion of Ireland in 1169 to the first parliament in Ireland and thru the Black Death the face of Ireland changed dramatically in those early centuries

Dromcollogher developed in the 1650’s when the absentee landlords, The Courtney’s of Devon, England, received plantation land following the defeat of the Munster Geraldine’s.

Even though the Courtneys were tolerant landlords the people of Dromcollogher and surrounding areas were living in the dark days of the Penal laws. Springfield Castle (Gort Na Tiobraid) which is situated on the boundary of Dromcollogher in the parish of Broadford was the seat of power of the Fitzgerald’s Lords of the Glenis. Daibhi O’Brudiar the famous bard had strong association with Springfield Castle.

The present church in Dromcollogher was built in 1824 and is dedicated to St. Bartholomew, and it has gone through extensive renovations in its lifetime. The village had a constabulary police station and had a daily penny post to

Charleville, the first post office opening here in 1831.

Fairs held on a bi-monthly basis, were large well-attended gatherings.

Drom was to become the gateway to Cork for butter from much of the golden vale. 

Dromcollogher was the site of the first co-operative creamery in Ireland. The town with its diamond shaped square was on the main butter thoroughfare between Newcastle West and Cork. At this time, there was also a weekly market or fair held in the town.

Dromcollogher holds the proud distinction of being Ireland’s first Co-operative creamery registered on sixth of June 1 889.

Recently this has been developed into the National Dairy Museum and Heritage Centre with the restoration of the Co-operative Creamery back to what it would have looked like when it first opened its doors in 1889. From the modest initiative taken by fifty Dromcollogher farmers in adapting Plunkett’s Policy of “Better farming, better business, and better living” has grown the multimillion cooperative movements, as we know it today in Ireland.

Early Twentieth Centaury Dromcollogher had three tailors, two shoemakers, two harness makers, two blacksmiths, two barbers, bicycle shop, two bakeries and nineteen public houses.

The population in Dromcollogher in 1911 was 444 people. Emigration from Limerick City and County of that year was 11,271.

Just like every community, Dromcollogher experienced its many sorrows, but a terrible disaster befell the area when on 5th September 1926 in a disastrous fire in a makeshift cinema, 48 people lost their lives. One of the most pitiful aspects of the whole tragedy was the fact that entire families perished.

Memoirs of Danny 0’ Callaghan and a Diary of Events from 1913 -1922 by

Charles Wall ex-commandant give an overview of life in the early Twentieth

Century Dromcollogher prior to the establishment of the Free State. Education, development of industry, pass-time, entertainment, and community development in the Twentieth Century.

ORIGINS OF DROMCOLLOGHER

The official spelling (English sic) of the name is Dromcolliher, although locals use Dromcollogher. The place name is also spelt Drumcollogher. The name is derived from the Irish Drom Coil Choille, which means “the ridge of the hazel wood”

The first mention of a settlement here was in the black book of Leinster in 1160.

Dromcollogher was originally part of the Barony of Connello, which embraced all of

West Limerick from Bruree West to the Kerry border and from the Cork border to the Shannon River north of Askeaton.

Due to the unyielding nature of the people living in the area the Barony of Connello was divided in four smaller baronies; Connello upper where Dromcollogher was situated, Connello lower, Glenquin, and Shanid.

The Barony of Connello was a very well known entity especially in Elizabethan Times, where it was, mentioned in numerous English state papers covering the period of the rebellion of the Munster Geraldine’s against the Crown.

The people of the area were, very well nourished in comparison to other parts of the country due to the surrounding forest and its close proximity to the River Deel.

Name of townlands within Dromcollogher and surrounding district:

	Name
	Irish
	Meaning

	Accrour
	Unknown
	

	Ballinlongig
	Baile an Longaigh
	Town of the Long Wood.

	Ballyfirreen
	Baile Phirin
	The town of Pirin

	Ballymongaun
	Baile Ui Mhongain
	The town of 0 Mongan

	Barnagarane
	Barr na nGarran
	High ground of Groves

	Carraward
	Ceathru Ard
	High Quarterland.

	Clonmore
	Cluain Mor
	Large Meadow

	Coolaboy
	An Chuil Bhui
	The Yellow Corner (Cornfields).

	Farrihy
	An Fhairche
	Territory (“look-out point”).

	Gardenfield East
	Muscrai Ui Nunain
	error

	Gardenfield South
	As above
	

	Gurteen
	Goirtin
	Little Garden.

	Kells
	Na Cealla
	Churches

	Knockacraig
	Cnoc na Carraige
	Hill of the Rock.

	Coolknockane
	Cuil na gcnocan
	Corner of the Hillocks

	Mondellihy
	Mom Deilithe
	Bogland/Level Divided

	Movane
	Unknown
	

	Ross
	Ros
	Wood.

	Sheeshive
	Seiseamh/Seasamh
	Sixith Part/stronghold

	Tulligmacthomas
	Tulaigh Muic Thomais
	Hillock of Mac Thomas.

	Woodfield
	Pairc no Coille
	Woodfield


. EARLY SOCIETY & CULTURE

The society found by the first Christian missionaries in the fourth century was despite the lack of towns and writing, a sophisticated one with a wealth of oral tradition of law and legend.

The ancestor of modern Irish was spoken throughout the land and politically there seems to have been a ferment of change as an ancient system of tribal allegiance was giving way to powerful new dynasties.

The people lived by agriculture and stock rearing. The well to do petty kings, nobles and well off farmers lived in houses within circular enclosures called Raths or Ring forts.

Society was aristocratic and hierarchical and kindred was an important guarantee of one’s position. Kings gave judgement and led their people in battle and there seems to have been a tendency to over emphasise their sacral functions. These kings wielded great power and sought it ruthlessly.

LIST OF CHURCHES

In 1201 a list of churches was drawn up as parts of a ‘list of churches and land of the see of Limerick’ and mentioned the church in Dromcollogher as well as references to the churches of Killagholehane, Cloncrew, Mahoonagh, Killeedy and Tullylease which was included at that time in the diocese of Limerick.

At end of the Thirteenth Century, the Anglo Norman control over this part of Limerick was severely tested by the resurgent GaeI. At this time twenty-two churches in the south west of county Limerick were destroyed by war, these churches extended from Abbeyfeale to Kilfinney and included Dromcollogher, Cloncrew, Killagholehane, Corcomohide, Mahoonagh, Rathcahill, Newcastle West, Killeedy and Killilagh.

Dromcollogher

The original church for the parish of Dromcollogher is located in the graveyard and stand in ruins in the glebe of Carhooard West and town of Dromcollogher.

Little is now known about the original parish church of Dromcollogher, except that it was destroyed in 1302, in 1410 and 1418 it was recorded as “Capella Dromcoikylle”. It could well be that the church in the grave yard is it’s successor, some who have examined it say that it more likely to date from the Fifteenth Century and most likely was built by the O’Nunans. If so, it was either destroyed again or forced into disuse. Fr. Michael Fitzgerald acquired the site of the present Church in Dromcollogher from Mr. Steevelly in 1819. A striking aspect of the building of the Church in Dromcollogher was the patronage it enjoyed from the Catholic gentry families in the area. The contributions of the Sheehys and the Hannigan families for example, bore eloquent testimony to the continuing vigour and loyalty of the old landed families. Renovations took place in 1989.

PHOTO of church

Priests of DromcolloqherlBroadford Parish Parish Priests

1824 - 


Michael Fitzgerald

1837— 1840 

Patrick Reeves

1841 — 1867 

Patrick Quaid

1868— 1876 

William O’Donnell

1877— 1891 

James L. Roche

1892— 1901 

John Gleeson

1902—1917 


Michael Byrne

1918— 1927 

Canon John Begley

1928 — 1936 

Canon John Reeves

1937—1946 


James Foley

1947— 1972 

Hugh O’Connor

1973— 1986 

John Liston

1987 



To Date James Ambrose
Curates

1837 



Michael McDonnell

1840 



Richard Scott

1841 



Oliver Frost

1842 



John Meehan

1843 — 1844 

Maurice Aherne

1845— 1846 

John Chawke

1847 — 1848 

James O’Donnell

1849 



James O’Donoghue

1855—1858 


John Walsh

1859 



John Corbett

1860— 1861 

John Quaide

1862 — 1865 

Richard Bridgeman

1866 — 1867 

Patrick Carroll

1868— 1870 

Edward Clifford

1871 -1875 


Edward Russell

1876— 1877 

Robert Kirby

1878— 1888 

Edward Russell

1889 



L. Curtin/C. McNamara

1890— 1909 

James O’Shea

1910—1920 


Thomas Wall

1921 — 1922 

Thomas de Bhall

1923—1930 


Edward Punch

1931 — 1937 

Robert Dunworth

1938— 1953 

Philip Enright

1954— 1959 

Michael Minahan

1960—1963 


William O’Connell

1964— 1972 

Gerard Wall

1973—1982 


Peadarde Burca

1983— 1984 

Frank Duhig

1985— 1990 

Thomas Crawford

1991 — 1996 

Timothy Curtin

Surrounding area

Tullylease

Tullylease is in the Diocese of Cloyne and is regarded by many as a boundary point to the diocese of Limerick; the current boundaries were drawn up at the Synod of Rathbrassil in 1111. Tullylease’s foundation in the Seventh Century exerted a powerful influence to the south of Killagholehane. The founder, the Anglo Saxon St. Beretchert also known as Bericher come to Ireland as part of the exodus of Irish and English monks that left Britain for Ireland in the aftermath of the council of Whitby Northumbria in 664 A.D. The synod of Whitby ruled against certain usage of the Celtic Church. Three brothers accompanied Beretchert to Ireland; Gerard, later know as St. Gerard of Mayo, Balan, Hue Britain and sister Sigrisia because they favoured the Irish. There is a tradition that Tullylease was a pagan religious centre for some time. The most important of the gravestones in Tullylease is Anglo Saxon in character and is now stored in the National Museum. It bears the inscription “Quicumquae hunc titulum legerit orat pro Berechtuire”. Who ever reads the legend pray for Berikert of Lindisfarne, written in Northumbria, the stone may possibly be a monument of the founder of the monastery although it is generally supposed it is of a namesake who died in 839.

Springfield- Gortnatubrid

Springfield Church was located in the graveyard of the castle of the same name, this church also known as Gortnatubrid, the church was a ruin by 1840. Originally this was a chapel of ease for the Fitzgerald family in Springfield Castle, in fact an underground tunnel was located linking the church to the castle. This church became a Protestant church and both Catholics and Protestants are buried in the graveyard. Located in the graveyard is a tomb to the Fitzmaurice family who acquired the castle after Sir John Fitzgerald left for France.

Cloncrew

Cloncrew derived its name from CIuain Creamh, the insulated meadow or the bog island of the wild garlic; it was referred to as Ciuoncrema in 1201, but was later destroyed in the war.

KilbolanelBowen’s Church

Located a short distance southwest of the castle of Kilbolane near the banks of the river Deel are the remains of this old church. It is a stone building about thirty- feet long and fifteen feet wide with ivy covered walls and gables still standing. It is believed to have been connected to the castle by tunnel or underground passage and is believed to originally have been a Roman Catholic Church. It is commonly believed to have been a “Chapel of Ease” for the Bowen family when they lived in Kilbolane. Commonly known locally as “The Teampailleen” (the little church) it was used in olden times as a burial place for stillborn children, the last such burial taking place in 1860.

CASTLES

Kilbolane Castle

Kilbolane Castle was built by the De Cogans (Norman English) sometime after the arrival of Strongbow in 1170 A.D. The building is square with a round tower in each corner originally surrounded by a moat. Around the castle there are many big slabs of stone in the ground, these are said to be graves and some of them are overgrown by weeds.

The castle was the property of the diocese of Cloyne, and was held in the Fourteenth Century by John Rochford, who received it from the Bishop of Cloyne. In 1403, John Thomas Mac Gybon (Fitzgibbon) acquired it after whom it became the property of the Fitzgerald’s — the Earls of Desmond. In 1614, King James granted it to Sir William Power, after whom it passed onto the Brown family, and in the same year, it passed to the Bruces of Bruree. In 1650 Cromwell, who was travelling from Mallow via Liscarroll, where he had destroyed a monastery, arrived in Kilbolane and attacked the castle and the eastern wall was knocked and never rebuilt.

Some years after Kilbolane Castle was built two other Norman castle’s were built; one in Castleisheen and the other in Liscarroll. They were conveniently built in a tripod formation within view of one another; this arrangement enabled any of the three when attacked to signal to the others for help this they did by means of light signals, signalling coloured flares fired from a pistol.

Springfield Castle 
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Originally known as Gort Na Tubrid (the Field of the Spring) Springfield Castle with the surrounding manor, was the seat of power for the Fitzgerald’s, Lords of Glenlis. During the Geraldine rebellion, John of Desmond defeated the English, at the ‘Battle of Gortnatubrid” in a field just below the cemetery in Springfield called “Pairc na Staille” (the Field of the Stallion) in 1579. Due to their involvement in the rebellion, the Fitzgerald has forfeited their lands, and the castle was granted to Sir W. Courtenay in 1591.

The Fitzgerald’s of Claonghlais later went on to recover possession of Springfield.

During the Jacobite War, Springfield held out for James II and the castle was again forfeit. Sir John Fitzgerald, the last Lord of Claonghlais, left the country to serve with the Irish Brigade in France following the Jacobite/Williamite War of 1689/91. At which point the Fitzmaurice family attained the castle.

Over the entrance to Springfield castle is the motto of the McCarthy family, which means, “to the brave be true”. The entrance is finished in a Maori tradition, which Lord Muskerry came across while working in Australia and New Zealand.

The following is an observation of Springfield Estate by James Caird in 1851 from his book “The West of Ireland, As a Field for Investment”.

“A flat country, with an undeviating straight line of road, ten miles long, brought us to Springfield castle, where we were very hospitably received by Lord Muskerry. It is all strong good land, principally in grass, and much in need of drainage. The quality of the soil at Lord Muskerry’s may be judged of from the following treatment of a field by a tenant, as related to me by his lordship. It was con-arced twice in succession with potatoes, neither time received any manure; it was then cropped with two successive crops of wheat; after which, with seven successive crops of oats, all good the last said to be a splendid crop. The land was then left to nature, without a particle of grass seed, and in three years it became, and now is, very fine feeding land!

A farm of 300 acres is now to be let by Lord Muskerry. Springfield castle is a fine old place, with some good timber, and a busy noisy rookery, the only one I remember to have yet seen in the west of Ireland”.

General Irish History 

THE NORMAN INVASION

(1169-1300)

The Norman Invasion of Ireland, which began in 1169, was both helped and hindered by the disunity in Ireland. Helped because of Irish dissensions and hindered because unlike England there was no central Irish government for the Normans to take over.The opportunity for invasion was created by the feud between Dermot MacMurrough (1134-71) King of Leinster, and Rory O’Connor, King of Connaught, and his ally; the one- eyed King of Breifne - Tighearnan O’Rourke.

This dispute was to provide the catalyst for the Norman invasion.

It is known that there had been talk of invading Ireland during both the time of William the Conqueror (1066-87) and Henry 1(1100-35). This became more serious after the accession of the first Plantagenet King, Henry 11(1154-89) when Pope Adrian IV presented him with a gold ring set with an emerald as a symbol of his right and that of his successors to rule Ireland. Adrian claimed the right to do this under the terms of the so-called Donation of Constantine (750 A. D.) which allegedly made the Pope “Lord of all the Islands of the Sea.”

MacMurrough went to see Henry II in France, although Henry was unwilling to intervene in the dispute himself, he allowed MacMurrough to recruit from the King’s knights. Using Bristol as a base he increased his army, the most famous of he’s recruits was Richard Fitzgilbert de Clare, better known through history as Strongbow.

Between 1169 -1171, the Anglo-Norman invaders won a string of easy victories over the Irish. Their triumph’s in Ireland were largely triumphs of technology, the Irish never lacked in fighting spirit, but Ireland’s isolation from the rest of Europe had meant that she had lagged behind in the vital sphere of military innovation.

King Henry arrived in Ireland in 1171, alarmed his vassal Strongbow was becoming over powerful. Upon Henry’s arrival, Strongbow was the first to pay homage to the King and was granted Leinster as a fief. Strongbow was followed by Dermot McCarthy, King of Desmond, who was the first Irish King to submit offering to his Norman overlord. Only the Northern Kings remained aloof.

LIFE UNDER THE NORMANS

The Normans introduced to Ireland the Feudal System of Government and land tenure - that already existed in England and much of Europe. All land belonged to the King, who in turn granted it to others in return for homage or specified dues.

They also introduced to Ireland its first effective central government. The Justiciar also known as the Kings Lieutenant was head of Civil Administration, and was aided by a Council consisting largely of the most important people in the Administration. He had the power to convene Parliament and the first parliament consisted of his council, major feudal lords, bishops and abbots. Towards the end of the Thirteenth Century, this changed to include representatives of the counties and towns.

Taxation was the primary concern of Parliament, but legislation was passed to deal with particular problems rather than major questions, as English Legislation generally applied to Ireland.

Another major Norman contribution was the creation of towns, until this time there had only been Viking settlements around the coast and monastic centres like Clonmacnoise and Armagh. Now towns developed around castles and manors. Mills, workshops and monasteries were built and trade developed.

According to O’Hart
 The following were among the Irish Chiefs and Clans of Ancient Thomond, (counties of Limerick and Clare):  MacEneiry, chiefs of Corca Muiceadha, also called Conail Uachtarach, now the Barony of Upper Connello, in the County Limerick. 0 ‘BilIry, a Chief of Hy Connall Guara, now the Baronies of Upper and Lower Connello, in the County Limerick.

THE FIRST PARLIAMENT IN IRELAND

In 1297 King Edward I of England was in need of soldiers to wage was against the Scots, so he sent John de Wogan to Ireland to stop the quarrelling of the Norman Barons in Ireland, (who had refused to sent soldiers to the aid of Edward, because they needed their soldiers themselves — to fight with each other.

De Wogan called the Barons together; every part of Ireland would be represented by the Barons who rule there. At first the Parliament seemed to work well, the Barons fought less and even sent soldiers to aid King Edward.

But before long the Norman Barons began quarrelling with the Gaelic Families and with those barons who fitted more easily into the Gaelic ways.

Before many years had passed the Barons eyed each other’s lands with more greed than ever, and they began fighting each other for superiority again.

As early as 1297 the Parliament in Ireland passed legislation penalising degenerate Englishmen who wore their hair in the flowing Irish style. After the Bruce invasion, the Government was increasingly troubled by the military strength of the Gaelic rulers and the willingness of Norman Lords to ally themselves with them.

Many Normans were absentee Landlords, more interested in their holdings in England or waging war in France.

In 1366 the most notorious Irish Legislation of the Middle Ages was produced “The Statues of Kilkenny”,” - they were both a recognition that the Norman conquest of Ireland would remain incomplete, and in an attempt to ensure that part of Ireland remained English in character by allowing no alliance between

English and Irish, whether by marriage, concubinage, fostering of children or gossipred (sponsoring another’s child at baptism).

The colonists were required to speak English, have English names and to keep English customs. Any Irish person living among the English were required to speak English even among themselves. At best, it was hoped to hold one third of the island for the King and leave the rest to the Gaelic rulers and degenerate English.

The immediate impact was a paralysis of trade with the survivors in a state of shock. In an attempt to revive the fortunes of their colonies the English launched a series of campaigns, culminating in the arrival of 10,000 strong force led by King Richard II in 1394. However, these campaigns led the English to believe that Ireland was a drain on resources rather than an asset.

THE BLACK DEATH

The Black Death changed the population of Europe dramatically, beside the plague deaths; birth rates declined dramatically, so by 1400 Europe’s population was half what it had been in 1345.

The plague returned periodically striking mostly children until disappearing from Europe in 1399.

In Ireland, the worst hit places were the cities, where people lived in close proximity to one another, Dublin and Drogheda lost almost all of their population. Norman settlers suffered very badly, because they tended to live adjacent to each other. The Gaelic Irish suffered less because they lived in the countryside and their houses’ were spread further apart, so they had less daily contact. The Gaelic Irish used the epidemic to their advantage by moving back on to the lands of Norman settlers who had died or fled to England.

THE GAELIC REVIVAL

As English power waned in the course of the Fourteenth Century, there occurred a phenomenon known as “The Gaelic Revival”.

In large this process was due to the decline of both baronial control and the power of the English Crown. After 1337, Edward 111 was pre-occupied with the French war, and no English monarch returned to Irish soil until 1394. The collapse of baronial rule in certain areas meant that one strong family’s rule was replaced by a series of rival Iordships - some Irish and some English.

With a perceived political revival went a cultural revival as well, particularly among the bardic praise poets who lauded the victories of their Irish patrons and their ancestors, reminding everyone of their noble lineage, the most important Gaelic manuscripts, such as the “Leabhar Breac” and Yellow Book of Lecan were written in this period. Native historians were also used to underwrite the old territorial claims of Irish Kings going back to pre-Norman times. Historians have noted a linguistic return to pre-Norman forms although with some modification many of the settlers had married into Gaelic families and for many Irish became their first language.

Alongside the Gaelic Revival went the increasing involvement of the Anglo-Irish baronage in native culture. Gerald Fitzgerald, Earl of Desmond (1363 — 98) was the first great lyrical love poet in the Irish language. 

THE TUDOR REFORMATION

Henry Viii’s rejection of Roman authority had little to do with faith, but was Henry’s reaction to the Pope’s refusal to dissolve his marriage to Catherine of Aragon. Henry severed his Kingdom’s ties with Rome, dues formerly rendered to Rome were redirected to the crown, and the first steps were taken to dissolve the monasteries.

In 1536, the Church of Ireland was brought into line with its English counterpart and within ten years, half the monasteries were closed.

At the time it did not seem such a dramatic event and was met with little resistance or enthusiasm. For many people the changes were welcomed, as a

much need reform with the gentry gratefully accepting due to the redistribution of

monastic lands many of the gentry benefited. As Ireland remained an

unconquered land in the areas not under English control, religious life remained

largely untouched with monastic life and links with Rome continuing.

The short reign of Henry’s successors Edward Vi (1547-53) and Mary (1553-58) saw upheaval in England, but the effects in Ireland was less evident. Edward’s reign brought a more puritan form of Protestantism. While Mary, a Catholic, attempted to turn back the tide by removing married clergy including the Bishop of Dublin. Her persecution of English Protestants gained her the name “Bloody Mar,”.

The reign of Elizabeth 1(1558-1603) reasserted the reformed church and in 1660 the Parliament passed the Act of Supremacy which established the Queen as Supreme Governor of the Church of Ireland. The Act of Uniformity of the same year imposed fines for non-attendance at Protestant services. With the force of law behind it the Protestant religion was less easy for ireland to ignore.

The Roman Catholic Church and the Reformed church were clearly divided when in 1570 the Pope excommunicated Queen Elizabeth.

In Ireland, despite the official façade of Protestantism, the Reformation had still not lived up to English expectation. The church in Ireland was to a great extent a law unto it self with the acceptance of married clergy and a strong pagan element in worship. While the papacy was happy to accept this as long as it received its dues, the reformed church required total acceptance of its rules.

THE PLANTATIONS

Throughout its history, the colonisation of Ireland has been attempted by waves of aggressive immigrants, from the Pre-Christian Celts to the Twelfth Century Normans, but Ireland’s first major colonisation began with the Tudor Plantations.

In 1541, Henry VIII declared himself King of Ireland (up to this point his title was Lord of Ireland), he was determined to establish control of Ireland and turn it into a land of peace where English law and administration functioned.

It was hoped the Plantations would draw the native Irish to a civilised life of obedience and proper agricultural practise, (sowing corn rather than tending cattle).

At first, the plantations were small in scale, but when they did not make sufficient headway, plantations that are more ambitious were attempted. There were several failed attempts most notably in Leix and Offaly (1550’s) and the Ard’s Peninsula (1570’s) none of which survived for long.

The Munster Plantations (1590’s) were more successful indicating that there was a need for a sizeable English population for it to be sustainable.

THE GERALDINE REVOLT

The Geraldine Revolt from 1569 — 1583 represented a serious threat to the authority of the Crown. There was a falling away in loyalty to the crown especially in Munster and more importantly, there was a new unity among the Irish. The Fitzgerald’s’ were encouraged by opposition in an overwhelmingly Catholic country to the Protestant reformation.

The revolt was spearheaded by James Fitzmaurice-Fitzgerald, (1530 — 1579), cousin of the Fifteenth Earl of Desmond, who after fighting on the continent returned to Ireland in 1570 to lead opposition to the plantation of English settlers in Munster.

Finding himself unable to win support in the Spanish or French Court he was however, well received in Rome by Pope Pius V (1560-1572). In July 1579, Fitzgerald landed with a small force in Dingle, Co. Kerry and proclaimed a holy war against the English.

It has been pointed out that this religious crusade was unusual because being Irish and being Catholic were not at the time synonymous. The Geraldine Revolt was undone by that Irish voice of disunity, as Fitzgerald prepared to march northwards to whip up support he was killed in a clash with a Burke cousin.

In 1611, the Anketell family held the Castle and lands of Rathurde. This castle was apparently located between Rathurde Ring Fort and Pairc Na Staille, 200 yards south-west of the entrance to Springfield castle. This area south of this is still known as Farrihy Anketell in 1842. Robert Anketell was the last member of the family to live here. He died in 1771.

Dromcollogher grew after the 1650’s, when the Courtenay family who had come to Newcastle West to plant the lands they had received following the defeat of the Munster Geraldine’s by the English, in 1583.

This began the development of the town. The Courtenay did not reside in their estates themselves as they lived in Devon, (England) for most of the time, and visited for the Hunting and Fishing season.

Their several agents carried out the governing of their Devon Estates in Newcastle West and Dromcollogher. During this time, the Courtenay lands covered an area of 49,149 plantation (79,622 statutes) acres
, which was mainly rural land except for the towns of Newcastle West and Dromcollogher. During this era Dromcollog her was a buffer market town. The butter was transported to Cork and Limerick by horse and cart and Dromcollogher was more than likely the main stopping place for them to rest and feed themselves and their horses, which contributed to the town’s prosperity. About 1640 the Courtenay Landlord received a patent for the holding of a weekly market and annual fair in Dromcollogher

“Richard O’Nownan held Kyllrye, one and a half quarters; Knockakreywygg, or Knockecreaghe, one half quarter, with woods; Dromcollogher, one half quarter, with woods, waste; Cowleboye, one quarter, with woods, waste; Gortenegarry, one half quarter; Aharraghe, one half quarter; Ahadaghe, one half quarter.

These quarters, which were all lying waste, were held by O’Nownan from John Fitzedmund known by several names of Muskerry Nownan, Drumcollogher, or Cooleboye. O’Nownan held Castlelysine and the lands belonging to said castle, which was also in Muskerry Nownan, directly from the earl. This tuath corresponds with the old Celtic division called Corca Muicheat, and is equivalent to the pre-Re formation parish of Corcomohide”.

Taken from “The Survey, Confiscation and Plantation of the Desmond Estates”.

“The Diocese of Limerick in the 16th and 17th Century” Canon Begley pg 101 
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The above map of Dromcollogher in 1709 was drawn up for the owners of the Courtenay Estate in Newcastle West. The town at that time had all the traits of being a plantation town with its diamond shaped centre and winding streets radiating from it.

Doctor O’Connor cited “The map shows about twelve mud walled thatched houses and about twelve cabins. Springfield Castle, is situated on the boundary of Dromcollogher, in Broadford parish, and its surrounding estates belonged to the Fitzgerald’s, Lords of Clean glass who survived in ownership until 1691 and it was then known as God na Tiobraid, the field of the Spring.”

In the 1641 Rebellion, the old English allied themselves with the native Irish and demanded freedom of religion. Among these old English families were the Fitzgerald’s’ of Springfield Castle, who rose up with the local people, in 1642,

armed only with pikes and sticks. Later that year on the 3 of September, Edmund Fitzgerald and the Catholic forces of 7,000 retreated from the Battle of Liscarroll, where 700 were killed. In 1647, they suffered massive defeat in the battle of Knock Na Nos.

In 1645 - 49, the Papal Nuncio to Ireland was John Baptist Rinuccini, Archbishop of Fermoy. He had little time for the arguments of the Old English Catholics that hoped for religious toleration from a Protestant Monarch. He wanted all Catholics in Ireland to combine their resources to achieve a political situation whereby Catholicism would be established as the exclusive religion in Ireland.

Records show that a Cromwellian garrison of horse soldiers was maintained in Gort na Tiobraid Castle in the 1650’s. This meant that suppression of the local people was very severe. In the 1660’s conditions improved for the local people when Sir John Fitzgerald returned from France and he was reinstated in part of his estate once more at Gort na Tiobraid. According to Sir William Petty, Europe’s most respected statistician, “Ireland was very densely populated and the vast majority of people were settled on farms or smaller agricultural holdings, they were engaged principally in tillage and stock rearing. The poorer of them, unable to afford the larger holdings needed for cattle, were given enough land to grown corn, to meet their rent payments together with a small area needed to produce their diet of potatoes. With luck, some might even have had “the grass for half a cow.”

During the Seventeenth Century, hurling was a very popular game amongst the Norman and Gaelic population. Attempts to ban it outright failed. Because of the bitter conflicts in this century, there are few references to hurling. However, the game survived and was to prosper during the Eighteenth Century - the “Golden

Age” of Hurling.

Following the Jacobite War when the Fitzgerald’s held out for James II, Sir John Fitzgerald left the country to fight with the Irish Brigade in France, this was known as the flight of the “Wild Geese.” He was killed in Battle in Oudenarde, France in1708. After this the Fitzmaurice’s acquired the Castle. Sir Robert Tilson Deane married Anne Fitzmaurice, granddaughter of John Fitzmaurice, in 1775, who was sole heiress of Springfield Castle. Her husband Robert was elevated to the peerage of Ireland as Baron Muskerry in 1781.

DAIBHI 0’ BRUADMR

(1625-1698)

Daibhi 0’ Bruadair, the famous Bard, spent almost 40 years in West Limerick, mainly as the official poet to Sir John Fitzgerald who had his seat at Gort na Tiobraid, which is now know as Springfield the anglicised version of God na Tiobraid. 0’ Brudair was a native of East Cork, and he was born around 1625 in a place called Barrymore. He came to Springfield in the 1660s. There was a warm and strong bond of friendship between 0 Brudair and his patron Sir John Fitzgerald. Sir John himself wrote some poetry in Irish and of course, Irish was his everyday language. In 1674, there was a major change and history does not record these events. It appears 0’ Brudair was reduced to working in the fields as a labourer and died in misery in 1698. He is buried in his native Barrymore. The inscribed plaque set in the wall at the entrance to Springfield Castle to commemorate Daibhi and his patrons, the Fitzgerald’s of Gort Na Tiobraid. Seamus Murphy, the Cork Sculptor, carved the inscription on the plaque.

PENAL LAWS & THE CHURCH

In 1695, the first Penal Laws passed under the British rule were stringently enforced in almost all parts of Ireland in an attempt to destroy landowning Catholics. Examples of the Penal Laws would be:

• Catholics were prevented from practicing their Faith, and the clergy were banished from ministering to their people, under threat of death.

• Catholics were prevented from possessing weapons.

• Catholics could not go abroad to gain an education, stand for election or hold most minor public offices.

• Catholics were prevented from inheriting land or buying land from the Protestants.

• On the Catholic landowners’ death their land was equally divided between their sons but should the eldest conform (turn Protestant) he would inherit the whole estate.

• Catholics could not own a horse worth more than £5.00.

These were some of the ways in which the English tried to subdue the Catholics, but they failed to kill the faith.

During this time Mass was not to be celebrated in the Catholic churches, so therefore Mass was said in secluded spots usually on top of hills where they could keep a look out for the enemy soldiers. These places were known as mass rocks. The local Mass Rock is situated on Daly’s Hill, Farrihy in Broadford.

Courtney, an English-Catholic undertaker, had control over most of South West Limerick, which included Dromcollogher and Newcastle West until the 1903 Land Purchases Act.

The Courtney’s were very tolerant landlords in the matter of religion, even in the time of the penal laws against Catholicism.

Enforcement of the laws was not severely acted upon. They turned a blind-eye to an existing small number of priests, but the hierarchy were not as welcome and therefore, were banished. Should they return they risked being hung, drawn and quartered.

In the dark age of Catholic persecution the Anketells, the Sheehys and other surviving Catholic gentry, families gave invaluable support to the Church.

There was a Catholic Chapel in Dromcollogher in 1710. Maurice England was the Priest for Corcomohide and Clouncrew in 1704. Corcomohide embraced Ballyagran, Kilmeedy, Feenagh and Dromollogher. Father England died in Dromcollogher in 1719, the parishes shortly afterwards assumed their natural divisions and stayed like this until the middle of the Nineteenth Century when Broadford joined to Dromcollogher to be one parish, and so it remains to this day.

James Scanlon succeeded Father England and he resided at Farrihy, he died about 1740. Callaghan O’Callaghan succeeded and he died about 1765.

The next priest of the parish was John Brown, who studied at Louvain but the dates of his time in Dromcollogher are not recorded. Patrick Quinn who succeeded John Browne is mentioned in 1777 in the Monagea Register. He died on the 29’ April 1778 aged thirty-one years, and is buried in the nave of the old ruined Church in the graveyard in Dromcollogher. This is one of the oldest headstones in the graveyard.

Fr. Nicholas Sheehy, martyred parish priest of Clogheen, Cahir, Co. Tipperary had strong connections with Dromcollogher. He was the son of a prominent businessman Francis Sheehy, who was part of the Sheehy family who came to Ireland in the last wave of the Galloglas
 to come here from Gaelic Scotland in the early Fifteen Century. The Earl of Desmond employed them as keepers of castles.

Though having suffered severely in the Elizabethan confiscation of Munster, the Sheehy’s were very powerful in West Limerick in 1640. They also suffered in the Cromwellian confiscation and like many other Catholic families; they were reduced to the status of middlemen. Although they could not own any land, under the Penal Laws, they were very wealthy and had leases on many town lands in Dromcollogher. In 1780, the Sheehy’s had leases on the town lands of Gardenfield, Clonmore, Ballinlongig, Farrihy, Barnagurrane and other town lands. Due to being allowed to trade, they became wealthy bankers. Their descendant Dr. Robert Sheehy G.P. still resides in the town today.

“The present church in Dromcollogher was built in 1824 under the guidance of Fr. Michael Fitzgerald, who acquired the land in 1819 from Mr. R. J. Jones-Stavely, who was the Landlord of Dromcollogher, he originally acquired the land from the Courtney estate. It was decided to incorporate in the new church a tower-house or keep. The church was probably T-shaped, as the population would have warranted it. By 1820’s there were seven-hundred people in the town alone and the church is dedicated to St. Bartholomew. Father Patrick Qualde carried out renovations in 1861; further renovations were carried out in 1950’s and 1990’s. The Stations of the Cross are dedicated to the memory of Dorcas Mary Aherne, who died in October in 1895, buried within the church is William 0’ Donnell, P. P. of Dromcollogher who died in August 1876, also buried within the church is John Gleason, P. P.

Lewis’ 1837 Topographical Dictionary of Ireland describes “Dromcollogher, a parish, in the barony of Upper Connello east, 9 miles (S. W.) from Charleville, on the road to Newcastle: the population of the village, in 1831, was 658; the remaining part of the parish is returned with Corcomhide. It comprises 29084 statute acres, as a plotted under the tithe act; about one-fourth is under tillage, producing excellent crops, and the remainder is meadow and pasture land. The hills are cultivated nearly to their summits, and there is neither waste land not bog: they are on the south side of the village, forming a natural boundary between the counties of Limerick and Cork, and are supposed to contain there several strata of coal, but no attempt has yet been made to work them. The general substratum of the parish is limestone, and several quarries have been opened in various parts for agricultural, purposes and building. The village had a constabulary police station, and had a daily penny post to Charleville. Fairs were held on 15t17 March, 2’ May, 17th June, 24th August, 5th November, and 3rd December; they were generally large and well attended, the parish is in the diocese of Limerick; the rectory is appropriate to the vicars choral of the cathedral church of St Mary, Limerick; and the vicarage forms part of the union or parish of Corcomohide, with the tithes are returned.

In the Roman Catholic divisions the parish is the head of a union or district, comprising also the parishes of Killaliathan and Cloncrew, and part of Monagae; the chapel is a small plain edifice
. A male and female school are supported by L.White and R. J. Ste velly, under the superintendence of the vicar. Not far from the village are the ruins of the old parish church, which was a small and very ancient edifice VI FAIRS

FAIRS
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Fairs were held in Dromcollogher on the 15th March, 2nd May, June, 24th August, 5th November, 3td December, the two largest were November, 3 December. These were large and well attended.

“Each fifty-year span from 1600-1850 brought considerable amounts of fairs to small urban centres. Fair day spawned a whole range of transactional activity including the buying and selling of cattle, sheep, pigs, sometimes horses, agricultural implements, ilnen and woollen cloth, and it brought a much needed injection of capital into the life of small urban centres. There were tolls collected in all roads in to the fairs. There were mostly clothes traders at them.

Trade acts as a sensitive yardstick of the state of well-being or ill-being of urban settlements and thus it plays significant role in conditioning the nature of urban life. As organic entities, towns and villages respond to changes in the pattern of trade.

In the first half of the eighteenth century, mid- Munster takes the part of prominence in fairs patenting, along with a mote diffuse pattern for markets. Sustained economic improvements in the second half of the century saw the widespread adoption of first-time fair patents, as well as the further consolidation of patented markets in Ulster and the North a thin dispersion of first-time fair patents, along with a scatter of market patents favoring new towns and villages in the far west.

From the 1850’s onwards, the distribution of fairs and markets undetwent contraction, as the newer, leaner bourgeois-led Ireland marched to the ruthless trust of modernization. The coming of the railways and later of motorized transport made a virtue of modality, and heavily favored the higher order urban centers. Concurrent with these developments, the improvement of shopping and banking facilities helped the concentrate fairs in larger towns. Another significant factor, which militated against smaller centers and countryside locations, was the power granted to local authorities in 1872 to regulate fairs. This too helped to increase the frequency of urban fairs, while accelerating the rate of loss elsewhere. Greater specialization became evident in the most prestigious centers, with monthly fares.

Some markets became specialized none more notably than the Butter Exchange located in the city of Cork. O’Connor notes, “it played a highly significant role in both the Irish agricultural economy and the international butter trade. Shipment of butter from Cork were virtually all inspected and branded at its celebrated market, the largest in the world. The same exports dominated the Irish export trade in accounting for nearly one-third of the total volume of some 527,000cwt. Dispatched from Irish ports in 1835, by 1850 Corks ascendancy in the butter trade had remained undiminished, Its monopolistic status as supply source to the foreign trade still brooked no challenge, and despite the establishment of some 25 small firkin-butter markets throughout Munster in the Period 1850 — 1880, the quantity of product passing through the Cork weigh-house registered aIn the first half of the eighteenth century, mid- Munster takes the part of prominence in fairs patenting, along with a mote diffuse pattern for markets. Sustained economic improvements in the second half of the century saw the widespread adoption of first-time fair patents, as well as the further consolidation of patented markets in Ulster and the North a thin dispersion of first-time fair patents, along with a scatter of market patents favoring new towns and villages in the far west.

From the 1850’s onwards, the distribution of fairs and markets underwent contraction, as the newer, leaner bourgeois-led Ireland marched to the ruthless trust of modernization. The coming of the railways and later of motorized transport made a virtue of modality, and heavily favored the higher order urban centers. Concurrent with these developments, the improvement of shopping and banking facilities helped the concentrate fairs in larger towns. Another significant factor, which militated against smaller centers and countryside locations, was the power granted to local authorities in 1872 to regulate fairs. This too helped to increase the frequency of urban fairs, while accelerating the rate of loss elsewhere. Greater specialization became evident in the most prestigious centers, with monthly fares.”411’

Some markets became specialized none more notably than the Butter Exchange located in the city of Cork. O’Connor notes, “it played a highly significant role in both the Irish agricultural economy and the international butter trade. Shipment of butter from Cork were virtually all inspected and branded at its celebrated market, the largest in the world. The same exports dominated the Irish export trade in accounting for nearly one-third of the total volume of some 527,000cwt. Dispatched from Irish ports in 1835, by 1850 Corks ascendancy in the butter trade had remained undiminished. Its monopolistic status as supply source to the foreign trade still brooked no challenge, and despite the establishment of some 25 small firkin-b utter markets throughout Munster in the Period 1850 — 1880, the quantity of product passing through the Cork weigh-house registered asteady increase. From 269.190 firkins in 1827 to 342,260 firkins worth over £800, 000 in 1850, to an average of 407,000 firkins per year from 1875 to 1880, is the measure of the significance of the Cork butter market at is best. Almost all the butter brought to the Cork Butter Exchange came by land, making for many an arduous journey. As the witness stated, these poor men in their quest of a meager existence, felt obliged to travel night and day without respite.

Richard Griffith was charged for the first time by the government to construct news roads in the region as a stratagem to help quell agrarian disturbances, offer employment and make the butter routes to Cork as direct as possible. Altogether, between 1822 and 1836 Griffith was responsible for the construction of some 234 miles of road in counties Cork, Kerry, Limerick and Tipperary. In the process, he made the butter roads to the Cork Exchange smoother and straighter and the journey sweeter.

Sean Curtin cited “as it happened, Dromcollogher was to become the gateway for the butter from much of the Golden Vale. Therefore, a big building programmed was initiated, and Newcastle West was developed as a market town, with handsome straight roads radiating into its rural hinterland. And the most important of these was the road to the south-east to Dromcollogher; because it gave access to the world’s biggest butter market, at Cork.”
 The Butter Route from Newcastle West to Cork ran from Newcastle West, Dromcollogher, Lisgriffln, Mallow finally reaching its destination in Cork.

The population of Dromcollogher in 1831 was 658 people. The first Post Office in Dromcollogher opened in 1831, it served as a sub-post office to Charleville.

In 1837, there was a constabulary police station. The first Irish railway, the Dublin and Kingstown, opened in December 1834. The railways were crucial in the process of consolidating national consciousness. The railway line from Newcastle and Rathkeale was opened in 1865. “The butter industry, of course became industrialised from about 1900. The railway stations at Newcastle West and Charleville obviated the need for the long treks to Cork by horse cart, and direct selling by co-ops caused the fading out of the great Cork butter market itself. ‘

Moss McCarthy recalls his memories of a typical fair day in the 1950’s

“A monthly event in Dromcollogher was the fair; the principle business carried on was the dealing of pigs and cattle. The farmers would gather in the town early in the morning and tolls were collected at each end of the town. A person was charged a toll according to the amount of animals he had with him. Farmers used to haggle among each other and many a hard bargain was struck between two farmers. They used to retire to the pubs and restaurants for refreshments. It was a day of great trading for shops and many of them employed extra staff for the day. The day often ended with a fight between farmers over some trivial matter.’

GRIFFITH’S VALUATION

Between the years of 1848 and 1864, a valuation of property was undertaken in Ireland. A “Tax Levy” for the support of the poor would be based on this valuation. The results of the survey lists among other things every householder and landowner in Ireland at this time. The Commissioner of the Valuation was Richard Griffith.

THE GREAT FAMINE,

(1845—49)
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(Skibbereen 1847 by Cork artist James Mahony (1810–1879), 
commissioned by Illustrated London News, 1847)

Also known as the “Great Hunger”, it dated from 1845 -1851, but the effects lingered. Ireland at the time was one of the most densely populated countries in Europe. It had a profound and emotional effect on the people of Ireland. Irish people at the time were dependent on the potatoes crop to feed their families. The land they lived on was rented from English landlords and they played some of the rent by the crop they grew. A massive population explosion in the previous forty- years had results doubling the citizens to 8 million. To enable them to support themselves plots of land were divided and sub-divided.

In 1845, the summer was very warm and the expected crop was not to be with fatal consequences, the weather at the time was conducive to blight due to Summer storms and high winds. The blight was a Killen fungus characterised by black spots on the leaf and white mould on under side it spread quickly by wind, rain and insects. The potatoes were reduced to rotten-puttied pulp with a dreadful foul odour.

*Z:ZThe Governments response at that time was to import Indian corn and set up public works. There were also soup kitchens, which were set up by the Quakers and other religious organisations. The schemes were not very successful for the people of Ireland did not know how to cook the corn and were too weak to work.

The Prime Minister Sir Robert Peel decided not to give free food to the starving Irish because these undermined marked prices. He decided that the Irish people should work for the corn, so he set up road works for the people work on, to earn the money. He also reduced the price of bread and removed the duty paid on grain.

These measures failed firstly because the corn was not distributed fast enough and when it was the amount of corn giving was not enough and lowering the price of bread was pointless because people could not afford it as they were too weak from hunger, to physically work on the roads.

At the time, vast quantities of food were still being exported from Ireland on a Daily basis. The figure below illustrates a single day’s Exports from Cork.

Single Days Exports from Cork’”

147 sides of Bacon

120 cases of pork

2 casks of ham

149 casks of mixed foods

2000 casks of oats

300 bags of flour

100 barrels of oats

300 head of cattle

542 boxes of eggs

People attacked food depots because they were frustrated and starving, if they were caught deportation followed. People scarped together the money toimmigrate to America and other countries. The ships they left on were called coffin ships because the ships were old, and not very sea worthy and were over crowded and many of the passengers died at sea.

The workhouses of the time were deliberately kept in appalling conditions, to discourage the homeless and starving people from using them. The nearest to Dromcollog her at the time was in Newcastle West (currently St. ITA’s Hospital).

The people of Ireland died in their millions because of the famine, families were so poor they could not afford coffin for their dead so they wrapped them in straw for burning, or left them in their cabins, to be eaten by equally starving animals. Evictions were also the order of the day. Old people and children did not escape the tyranny of the landlords and many the walking dead took to the roads. The Famine was catalyst that ensured we never again depended on England’s support. Self- government and ownership of land was paramount. 

“Canon Begley mentions that in 1847 Father Quaid of Dromcollogher gave a harrowThg account of the effects of distress in his locality. In one house, he found four dead and the other two in a dying condition. He attended between two and three hundred Th one week — some in quarries, ruined houses and in every stage that could present itself to view. He suggested an auxiliary workhouse for the locality sThce patients, when they presented themselves at Newcastle West were refused admission. An auxiliary workhouse was fitted up at Ash grove to relieve the congestion at Newcastle”.

“The potato crop was sound in 1847 and pressure on the workhouses began to ease off but it was not until 1852 that the numbers in the buildings show a real decline. As a result of this famine experience, it was decided to form some new Unions and to build workhouses in them”.

The Square in Dromcollogher was site for many meetings, this rare poster advertising a public meeting under the auspices of the Irish National Land League was held on Sunday the 31st of October 1880. [image: image6.jpg]7 VAL B HELD Jﬂ'
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IRELAND’S FIRST CO-OPERATIVE CREAMERY
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Horace Plunkett

According to Rona Wall “In a modest town in County Limerick on the western edge of the “Golden Vale” that renowned area of fertile farmland which spreads over parts of counties Limerick, Cork and Tipperary.”

This is the land with an age-old reputation of dairy farming that once won for Ireland and particularly for the province of Munster the soubriquet of “land flowing with milk and honey”.

“Oh a plenteous place is Ireland for hospitable cheer,

Where the wholesome fruit is bursting from the yellow barley ear,

There is honey in the trees where her misty vales expand,

And her forest paths in summer are falling waters fanned.”

Whatever about honey, there certainly was a copious flow of milk. For centuries, butter had been a traditional Irish export; as far back as 1641, it was the third most important. The Cork Butter Market had an international reputation and great quantities of Irish butter were sold into mainland Europe. In the 1730’s French vessels putting into Cork, loaded beef and salted butter for the colonies. By 1800, there was a growing market in Britain to feed the increasing industrial population arising from the Industrial Revolution and the factory system. The dairying industry in Munster flourished in consequence for these growing markets. However, by the 1 880’s Irish butter was becoming hard to sell on the British market.

Butter making in Ireland was very much a “cottage industry”. In traditional practice, every farmer churned her own cream and made her own butter in the farmhouse. The colour, taste and aroma of the product could vary very much depending on the quality of the raw material and the standard of hygiene attained in the making.

Some butter made on the farm was of excellent quality, so much that certain families continued to produce homemade butter for many years. Nearly always, Irish homemade butter had to have a generous addition of common salt (sodium chloride) to act as a preservative. Some samples of butter were so poor that they could only be sold by blending it in judicious quantity with better-made butter. This did not make for first-class product; but at least it was marketable — at a price!

Following the invention of the centrifugal cream separator in Sweden (1853), and the development of methods of refrigeration certain European countries had made great advances in the art of butter-making and were able to produce a tasty mild-cured butter of superior quality — a standard product manufactured and marketed fresh on a year round basis. One look at the British butter market in the 1880’s identified Denmark as the major competitor.

In 1865 following a disastrous war with Germany, Denmark set about reorganising her agriculture. Instead of trying to compete with the New World as a grain producer, she used her home grown tillage crops and imported grain to develop large scale intensive farmyard enterprises — dairying, pigs and poultry — on her small holdings, many of which did not exceed 10 hectares (22 acres). By maintaining a high proportion of tillage (up to 75%) Denmark was able to score heavily over Ireland in year-round dairying. Ireland had an equable climate andan excellent growth of grass in the growing season but because of the pastoral nature of her farming, more than 80% of the year’s production of milk (and butter) arose in the summer months.

The story is told of the Golden Vale that if one dropped a cows halter in the pasture in the morning, one could hardly find it by nightfall, not because of poor visibility, for the Summer evenings are long and bright, but the grass would have overgrown and “smothered” it.

Very few root or forage crops were grown and winter fodder consisted mainly of hay. Consequently, production of milk in the winter months was minimal. This extremely seasonal patter of milk production made it very difficult for Ireland to get or retain markets for her butter.

Meanwhile, in Denmark under the influence of Bishop Grundtvig and his Folk High Schools farmers had become reasonably well educated and were thus able to work toçether — to co-operate. Education is the requisite of co-operation everywhere. Unless people are educated, they are virtually unable to cooperate . They often open to every divisive influence that is brought to bear on them and cannot be made to work together in the atmosphere of understanding trust.

Danish farmers had to come together and by 1890, they owned and operated some 600 co-operative creameries thus bringing the production of dairy products into the factory system. Thus the making of butter (and cheese) which had been formerly been the preserve of the individual farmers wife, was now becoming the subject of mass production. Using the cream separator, and the power driven barrel churn tin the same type of factory system which was giving rise to greatly expanded industrial employment, growing populations and a growing demand for food. The factory systems was more efficient (more butter from a given quantity of milk), more economical, and means much less trouble for the farmer’s wife.

The greatest selling point for factory-made butter was the concept of the standard-product — where every pound of butter would be the same as every other pound of butter, the pound of butter bought last months and the pound in the shop in same month’s time. This was the kind of quality and consistency being demanded by the urban consumer. In the face of Scandinavian competition the British market many Irish butter buyer and merchant investors were also turning to the factory system of butter production. They built creameries, which operated as joint stock companies with perhaps some shareholding by a few large farmers and local influential. Milk was purchased from farmers at a given price and the profits from butter manufacture went to the company shareholders who were mostly non-farmers. The system spread throughout Ireland at an accelerated rate from 1887 onwards. In fact, by the turn of the century there were almost 200 private creameries in the province of Munster. The advantages of the factory system were generally acknowledged by some people saw the long-term danger of having control of the dairy industry fall into private, non-farming hands.

To some extent, the farmer had always been at the mercy of the butter buyer, but if he could not achieve a satisfactory price for his butter at the market at X today, he could still hawk it to market Y tomorrow or to another venue next week. With the private creamery where milk had to be delivered on a Daily basis (twice Daily in summer) there was the fear that once the habit of home production had been broken and the domestic churn discarded, the creamery price for milk could be arbitrarily reduced. Mth milk being one of the most perishable of food products, the farmer/producer was in a very poor bargaining position.

This was the danger foreseen by Horace Plunkett who with a small bank of followers was seeking to establish in Ireland a system of Co-operation on the same lines as that operating in Denmark and other enlightened European countries. Plunkett, son of Lord Dunsany, came from an old long-established Anglo Irish landlord family of Danish origins settled in Co. Meath for many centuries who could claim amongst their ancestral kinsman Shane O’Neill (Shane the Proud) Earl of Tyrone and a Saint, Oliver Plunkett, Archbishop of Armagh, martyred at Tyburn in 1681. In 1878, at the age of 23, Horace Plunkett settled in Wyoming,

U. S. A. He was afflicted with tuberculosis and sought to recover his health in a drier climate. In Wyoming he worked as a cowboy and rancher and engaging in many aspect of American agri-business. In his business ventures, he amassed a considerable fortune, and with this health partially restored, he returned home to Dunsany, Co. Meath in 1888 determined to do something about the chaotic condition of Irish business and Irish agriculture. In July 1888 he was in touch with the Co-operative Union, the organisational body for British co-operatives, about the possibility of extending the co-operative movement to Ireland. Plunkett first sough to establish Co-operation in Ireland on the same basis and in the same sequence as had been followed in England and European countries.

The first step would be a consumer movement paralleled by a credit system followed by the development of co-operative wholesaling before going on to producer and manufacturing. The consumer arm would involve a network of co-operative retails shops supplying groceries and household goods in rural areas,farm requisites of all kinds.

With the help of some good friends locally, a co-operative retail shop was started in Doneraile, Co. Cork. Throughout Ireland the opposition of local merchants to the co-operative idea was so intense, that no further progress would be made in that direction, in spite of the fact that funds were provided by the Co-operative Union from Manchester, to aid the propaganda effort.

This enabled Plunkett to circularise some people in every parish in Ireland, sending them literature by post explaining the co-operative movement and its possibilities. Co-operative Union funds also enabled Plunkett to employ a co-operative organiser, one Robin (R. A). Anderson, of Buttevant, Co. Cork, who was to become a central figure in the Irish Co-operative Movement. At this stage Plunkett, making no progress in the matter of co-operative shops, turned his attention to the dairy industry.

The wholesale arm of the British Co-op Movement, the Co-operative Wholesale Society (C. W. S.) was by this time a very strong and powerful organisation with ramifications worldwide.

It had purchasing depots in Ireland, France, Denmark, Sweden, Canada, the U.S. A., Spain and Australia. C. W. S. policy was almost entirely geared to helping the co-operative consumer with the best quality good at the lowest possible price. The organisation was established in Manchester in 1864 and its first depots for the purpose of dairy produce outside England were in Ireland: Tipperary (1866), Kilmallock (1868), Limerick (1869), Armagh (1873), Waterford (1873), and Tralee (1874). For Irish butter dealers who collected homemade butter at country markets the C. W. S. were a useful outlet for good quality produce.
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The manager of the C. W. S. depot in Limerick was Mr. William L. Stokes and he along with Robert Gibson, a somewhat eccentric butter buyer in the area, were enthusiastic supporters of Plunkett’s co-operative ideas, and it was largely due to their organisational efforts that the first co-operative creamery in Ireland was established in Dromcollogher in 1889.

The Co-operative Union provided “a model code of rules and an admirable constitution” for the Dromcollogher Co-operative Dairy Society Ltd., which thereafter served as the constitutional basis of subsequent creamery cooperatives. The earliest co-op creameries were very modest business ventures. They required the mile of 800 to 1,000 cows to be economically viable and the building and equipment required to process this milk cost a good deal of money - £700.00 to £1,000.00 in the 1890’s. This figure varied very little whether we were dealing with a completely new building or the utilisation of an existing building, the renovation of which often proved more expensive. Many of the new creamery buildings were stark ugly barn-like structures of corrugated iron. An advertisement in the Irish homestead, the co-operative newspaper (18th May 1895) invited tenders for the “erection of an iron creamery, 65 ft. long X 25 ft. in width; waIls 13 ft. 6 ins, to the eves. The building to be sheeted throughout inside with Norway sheeting boards, one inch thick — tongued and grooved — and completed to the satisfaction of the Society’s Engineer”.

Inside the building there was often only a flimsy partition dividing the dairy (manufacturing area) from the engine room. A water tank about three ft. deep ran the length of the back wall like a miniature but static millrace. At one end of the building, a platform was erected where the supplier could unload milk cans from his cart at floor level. Here the milk had to be measured; it poured into a measuring drum before being re-poured into the receiving vat.

Before long it was found necessary to discard this sloppy method of pouring milk into a measuring drum, so weighing machines were introduced which more or less accurately recorded the quantity of milk delivered by each supplier.

The milk was then passed through a separator and the resulting cream in 9 gallon Schwartz pans was immersed in the water tank to await churning. The first (Preston) separators were heavy and clumsy machines, which required four horsepower to drive them. In the days before the locomotive type engine with its horizontal boiler, these called for a vertical boiler and engine which had to have a tall steel chimney with wires extending above the creamery roof, to give the necessary draught for the firebox and to convey smoke and waste steam upwards. Later types of separator, the Laval and the Alexander required only half of the horsepower.

Before the introduction of the simple Babcock tester or the more modern Gerber test, equipment for testing the butterfat content of milk was primitive.

Often it meant churning individual sample quantities of supplier’s milk in a small rotary churn. This was laborious work and the dairy maids disliked it. These small churns could easily have been power driven by gearing them to the shafting which turned the separators and the big barrel churn but very few “engineers” had the ingenuity to do this.

The money for the building and equipment was subscribed by the member suppliers in £1 shared in the co-operative. Farmers usually took a £1 share for every cow. Not all this share capital was paid up at the beginning. A common agreement was that shares were paid in four instalments of 5 shillings each, but there was no fixed rule, the main object being to admit everyone who had a cow. Some herd owners, for example, cottiers with only one or two cows were admitted with as little as one-eight of their committed share i.e. half-a-crown in the pound paid up. Later as competition between co-operative and private creameries became in tense, some quite large milk suppliers never becam8 members at all! These “outlanders” as Robin Anderson called them were a real path! They were farmers who lived within easy distance of a number of creameries (private and co-operative) but with allegiance to none. They were incithed to switch their supply for a perceived advantage of the merest fraction of a penny per gallon of milk,

An incentive offered in some of the first co-operative creameries was that there was a commitment given to pay interest at a rate of 5% (a schilling in the pound) on paid-up share capital.

In the early co-op ventures, where buildings were comparatively cheap and not much by the way of expensive equipment installed, it was still never possible to erect and equip a creamery for the amount of share capital subscribed. Therefore, in the absence of a wealthy benefactor, loan capital had to be raised from the commercial banks.

The bank always insisted on joint-and-several guarantees from a number of individual co-op members who were “men of substance” These guarantors were not always easy to come by; but even when they were assembled there was the difficulty that the guarantor if the put forward was virtually assured of a position on the Committee of Management, regardless of this suitability for the position.

The opposition to the formation of co-operative creameries was hardly lest virulent than that encountered by Plunkett when he was advocating co-operative retails shops. The provincial press was generally very hostile. “It would be hard to say”, said Anderson “whether the abuse of Cork Constitution or the Skibbereen Eagle was the louder”. Plunkett was described as “a monster in human form” and Anderson was his Man Friday aiding him in his hellish work.

The creamery system was destroying the dairying industry; killing the calves (through feeding skim milk); forcing farmers’ daughter to emigrate (presumably through idleness, boredom, and lack of butter making in the home). Creameries destroyed flourishing local butter markets causing the decay of many subsidiary form of industry, cooperage (firkin making) cartage and shipment from local ports. Dangerous germs of contagious diseases were spread by mixing milk. Children were kept from school to cart milk.

Public houses near the creameries tempted farmers and frustrated the Church’s efforts to promote temperance. Politics as well as religion also came into the question. Plunkett, Anderson and some other of the early co-operative leaders were of the Protestant and Unionist persuasion. There is one well recounted incident from Co. Limerick where a meeting was being held to form a cooperative creamery. When a local solicitor sprang to his feet declaiming:

“Rathkeale is a Nationalist town — Nationalists to the backbone — any pound of butter made in Rathkeale will be made in accordance with Irish, Nationalist principles, or it will not be made at all”.

In the face of vicious opposition on the one hand and apathy on the other cooperative progress was understandably slow and the year 1890 passed without a single co-operative creamery being added to the solitary total of Dromcollogher.

Thereafter the tide turned. The next break-through was at Ballyhahill near the home of Lord Mounteagle, Mount Trenchard, Foynes, Co. Limerick. By the end of 1891 fifteen more creamery societies were established, nine of them in Co. Limerick.

Whatever the social, cultural, religious or political drawbacks might be, there was no gainsaying the economic advantages of making butter in the creamery as opposed to the home.

Under the domestic arrangement where the housewife skimmings of three gallons of milk or more to make a pound (Ib) of butterfat could be gleaned from as little as two gallons. 
This enabled the co-operative creamery to give two pence halfpenny (2Y2d) for a gallon of milk at a time when farmers had to take 6d or less at the local market for their lb of homemade butter even if it were of excellent quality (which it often was not). 
Besides the better recovery and better price for butterfat, every farmer supplier got back his skim milk or separated milk free. This could be used (very rarely) for making cheese, but otherwise it was an excellent animal food for calves, pigs, or other farm stock. It still had all the proteins and minerals of the original whole milk. From a nutritional point of view, it lacked only the small requirement of fat and the important Vitamins A and D removed with the butterfat. These deficiencies could be made good by making a small addition of cod liver oil to the diet of young animals. This proved to be a very good and inexpensive substitute for the feeding of whole milk to calves, which under the old system were fed on this full cram milk, often far beyond the limits of what was nutritionally necessary. The farmer also got back from the creamery his share of buttermilk, the byproduct of the communal churning. This could be used either for human or animal consumption, and was particularly valued for the production of home- baked soda bread.

Gradually in the face of all the criticism, the co-operative creamery movement was making progress. Within ten years there were over 125 co-op creameries operational throughout Ireland. Honest trading and good management enabled the co-ops to give the farmer a better return for his milk than the private competitors did.

There was a difficult period when the C. W. S. decided to be directly involved in butter production and built its own creameries throughout Munster, but management by remote control from Manchester was not particularly effective and this venture proved a financial disaster. By 1903, the family feud between the British and Irish co-operators was amicably resolved.

Competition between co-operative and private creameries continued to be intense; a problem that intensified later on and had to be resolved in the independent Free State by legislation — The Creamery Act of 1928.

The Creameries figured largely in the War of Independence. Many Co-ops were burned or looted by Crown Forces supposedly as a form of military reprisal for the activity of rebel flying columns in the areas concerned.

In May 1921 over 30 co-op creameries were closed by military order in a move to root out subversion. It would be difficult to imagine any more successful expedient to ensure the complete alienation of peoples’ sympathies and drive them to total rebellion. The burning and closing of creameries must rate as a major factor leading to British admission of the inability to govern Ireland and the forcing of a truce on 8th July 1921.

In the Republic of Ireland today, co-operative dairying still underpins a major sector of the Irish food industry in both manufacturing and marketing. There is great diversity in the product mix, ranging from full cream and low fat milks for home consumption, cream, butter, cheeses, yoghurts, puddings, desserts and flavoured milk drinks. We also have a large production of milk powders and chocolate crumb as well as the use of whey in alcohol production and case/n (milk protein) which is the raw material for the manufacture of a range of non- food items of a plastic nature.

We now have some major co-ops listed amongst the largest Irish companies, many of them with international branches and linkages. Some of these process many millions of gallons of milk as the early creameries (with a single product, butter) handled thousands. As a result of the ongoing amalgamation, particularly in the 1970’s, some of the co-ops have grown to a massive size. A few small creameries have still survived some of them through specialisation, the production of niche marketing of specialised products. Big and small they have all developed the kind of modest initiative as was taken here in Dromcollogher in1889.” 
Guys Directory of Munster 
The following extract from Guys Directory of Munster paints a picture of Dromcollogher in 1893. 
Dromcollogher 

Postmaster: Joseph Walsh 

Telegraphist: Andrew J. Walsh 

Charleville: nearest railway station 

Poor law: Union of Newcastle West 
Dispensary and registration district of Feenagh 

Medical officer: Dr. J. F. Madigan 

Rate Collector: Den/s Hannigan 

Petty Session Court held every 4th Tuesday of each month, quarter sessions district of Newcastle West 

Clerk of Petty Sessions: Pallister Dawson of Newcastle West 

Civil Bill Officer: David Sexton 
Constabulary

District of Newcastle West

In charge of Dromcollogher station: 


Sergeant Thomas McGowan

Branch Bank: 


Munster and Leinster bank Ltd. Branch to Newmarket

Open: 



Wednesday and Friday and Fair Days

Fairs and Markets

Old Fair: 
15th March and 27th April

18th June and 24th August

5th November and 3rd December

Tolls are charged at old fair

New Fair: 
21st January and 11th February

10 July (Horses and Cattle) 
16th September

13th October

31st December

No tolls Charged

Pat 

Wm. Aherin 

Heronsbrook

Market Day: 
Wednesday (large egg, poultry and fresh lump butter market)

School: National — 
Head Teacher 
Dl. O’Callaghan

Ms. Ellen Buckley

Gentry and Clergy etc.

Henry Daly 

Woodfield

Rev. John Gleeson P.P.

D. O’L Hannigan 
Garden field

George Harding 
Hardingrith Cottage

Muskerry Right Hon. Baron

(Hamilton Matthew Fitzmaurice Dean Morgan 4’ Baron)

J.P. D.L. late R.N. residence Springfield Castle

John P. O’Leary, Castleshion

Rev. James O’Shea C. C.

Agents 

Edmond Aherne 

Emigration 

Edmond Fitzgerald 

--- and news 

Denis Hannigan 

James J. McAuliffe (J.J. Murphy and co. Cork) 

Bakers 
Edmond Aherne 

Michael Aherne 

Denis Kelly 


Eugene Riordan 

Boat and Shoe Warehouse 

Patrick Savage Dromcollogher 

Cattle Dealers 

Patrick Connor P. Gorman 

John Savage MI. Savage 

M. Hallornan 

Patrick Savage James McAuliffe 

Dromcollogher Dairy Factory co. Ltd.

Manager: Maurice D. Collins

Egg Merchants

Margaret Aherne Anthony Kiely

Drapers

Stephen Flynn Ms. B. Twomey

T.A. Twomey Ms. H. McAuliffe

Patrick Wall Joseph Walsh

B. Stokes

Flour and Meal Dealers

Ed. Aherne 0. ‘Callaghan

Dennis Kelly MI. Aherne

Patrick Broderick Eugene Riordan

MI. Done gan James Wall

Grocers

Ed. Aherne Anne McAuliffe James Wall

James McAuliffe A. McAuliffe Kate Sullivan

Margaret Aherne Andrew Kiely John Sheehy

Ellen MoonanGrocers

Dl. O’Callaghan Patrick Savage P. Broderick

Stephen Flynn J. Hannigan John Riordan

T. Fitzgerald Garrett Riordan Wm. Gleeson

Hardware and Timber Merchant

Margaret Aherne Anthony McAuliffe D. O’Caliaghan

MI. R. Done gan James Wall

Provision Dealers

Margaret Aherne D. O’Callaghan Bridget Long

Miss Sullivan Anne McAuIiffe

Victuallers

Patrick D. Gorman Patrick Savage John Ml. Savage

Patrick S. Gorman MI. Savage John J. Savage

P. Gorman (Snr.) John Savage David O’Shea

Vintners

Ml. Aherne James Wall John Sheehy

T. Fitzgerald John Riordan Garrett Riordan David Kelly Ml. AhernVintners

Wm. Gleeson Patrick O’Gorman Stephen O’Flynn

J. Hannigan Dl. O’Callaghan Denis Kelly

Bridget Long Ellen Nunan Anne McA u/life

Anthony McA u/life

Farming Community

Catherine Ahern: Farrihy Philip Burton Knockacraig

John Barry: Mondellihy Hanoria Burton Knockacraig

James Brennan: Knockgloss Matthew Brosnan Knocktoosh

B. Brosnan: Knocktoosh Timothy Brosnan Knocktoosh

J. O’Callaghan Boo/a James O’Brien Ke/Is

Daniel Collins Garden field James O’Brien Coolaboy

Daniel Collins Kells David O’Brien Farrihy

Maurice Collins Ba//in/on gig David O’Brien Ballymonguan

Maria Collins Moran Simon Croke Garden field

Maurice Culhane Mondellihy E. Fitzgerald Carra ward West

John Fitzgibbon Knockacraig David Hannigan Garden field

Thomas Healy Ba//inlon gig Ed. l,win Monde/lihy

Ml. Kelly Kil/agholehane Maurice Kiely Coolaboy

Owen Kelly Garden field James Larkin Knocktoosh

Tim Larkin Lacha Lower Ml. Leonard Carra ward

John McA u/life Barnagrane Ml. Maloney Farrihy

John McA u/life Kells John Mackessy Lacha Upper

John Maloney Monde/lihy Mortimer Maloney Farrihy

John Reidy Tulligmacthomas David O’Brien Barnagrane

Matthew O’Brien Farrihy James Wa/I Mondellihy

Farming Community

Wm. O’Brien Dromcollogher Mark O’Shea Ballinlon gig

Martin Quald Clonlara Patrick Quaid Coolaboy

Daniel O’Riordan Movane James Ryan Ballinlon gig

R. Sheehy Tullaha John Sheehan Lacha Lower

Patrick Sheehan Knockgloss Patrick Stack Ballinlon gig

Richard Stack Ballinlon gig Richard Stack Springfield

Miss Sullivan Mondellihy Timothy O’Sullivan Ballyinlon gig

Mark Stokes Barragrane Patrick Stokes Barragrane

Thomas Twomey Dromcollogher

PERCY FRENCH

[image: image9.png]



(1854 -1920)

Percy French was born in Cloonyquin, County Roscommon on 1st, May 1854. He became one of the foremost entertainers of his day. He delighted in composing and singing comic songs, accompanying himself on the banjo. He gained considerable distinction with such songs as Phil the Fluters Ball and Where the Mountains of Mourne sweep down to the sea. Percy French died from pneumonia on 24t), January 1920, aged 65. He is buried in Formby in Lancashire.

His association with Dromcollogher is related in the song called ‘There’s only one street in Dromcollogher. A plaque erected on a wall of a house in the Town Square where Percy French stayed commemorates this.

‘THERE’S ONLY ONE STREET IN DROMCOLLOGHER’.


Drumcolliher





I’ve been to a great many places,


And wonderful sights I’ve seen.


From Agernavoe to Ballinasloe


And back to Ballyporeen.


But when they’ talk of the town that over the ocean ii


When they say to me, “Pat, what do you think of tha


I up and I says, says I -





Chorus:





I suppose you’ve not been to Drumcolliher?


Ye haven ‘t.’ Well now I declare,


You must wait till you’ve been to Drumcolliher


And see the fine place we have there.


There’s only one street in Drumcoliiher,


But then ‘tis a glory to see:


Ye may talk till you’re du,nb, but give me old Drum.


For Drum is the place for me”.





They tell me there’s isles of the ocean


By india’s golden shore.


Where life all day long is a beautiful .song,


With flowers and fruits galore.


They tell me the sun does be shining,


With never a cloud in the sky’ -


But when they have done with their clouds and thei


sun


I up and I says, says I -





Chorus:





suppose you’ve nor been to Drumcolliher?


Ye haven’t’ Well now I declare,


You must wait till you’ve been to Drumcolliher


And see the fine sun we have there.


There’s only one sun in Drumcolliher,


But then ‘tis a glory to see:


Ye may talk till you’re dumb, but give me old Drum


For Drum is the place for me”.


I was over in London quite lately,


I gave King Edward a call.


Says the butler “He’s out, he isn’t about,


An’ I don’t see his hat in the hail.


But if you would like to look around, sir,


I think you will have to say,


Apartments like these are not what one sees


In your country every day
















































































































































































� O’Hart – Irish Pedigree (1876) – The Territories of Ancient Irish Families in Limerick & Clare 


� Plantation acres means Irish acres, which are bigger than English acres.


� Patrick J.O’Connor – Exploring Limerik’s Past, page 3, Year 1987


� Gallowglass literally means “Gall Oglach”, i.e. foreign soldier


� Source: � HYPERLINK "http://www.limerickdiocesesheritage.org/dromcollogher/lopdrumcollogher.htm" ��www.limerickdiocesesheritage.org/dromcollogher/lopdrumcollogher.htm�


� Samel Lewis – Topographical Dictionary of Ireland 1837


� Fairs & Markets of Ireland by Patrick J.O’Connor, Litho Press Middleton Year XX


� Fairs & Markets of Ireland by Patrick J.O’Connor, Litho Press Middleton Year XX


� Sean Curtin, County Chronicle, Limerick Leader County Edition, April 1st 2006


� Sean Curtin, County Chronicle, Limerick Leader County Edition, April 1st 2006


� Moss McCarthy – interview


� Ireland’s Own, 26th May 2006





